Filed 07-29-2020

Page 1 of 37

RECEIVED
07-29-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

#### **Appeal No. 2020AP000999-CR**

Milwaukee County Cir. Court Case No. 2018CM1973

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,
v.

DAVONTA J. DILLARD, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED BY BRANCH 31, MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE HANNAH C. DUGAN PRESIDING

BRIEF AND ATTACHED APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Nancy A. Dominski

State Bar No. 1056913 PO Box 511277 Milwaukee, WI 53203 Telephone: 414-514-8080 nancy.dominski@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS WAS ERROR BECAUSE IT STEMMED FROM CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FACTUAL AND LEGAL DETERMINATIONS BY THE CIRCUIT THE COURT, AND BECAUSE LAW ENFORCEMENT'S SEARCH OF THE VEHICLE, ARREST, AND DETENTION OF MR. DILLARD WERE NOT JUSTIFIED

The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Dillard's Motion to Suppress.

#### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The relevant facts and the legal issues, positions, and arguments of this appeal should be clearly and exhaustively presented in this Brief. Counsel requests oral argument, if such were to help address this Court's outstanding questions or aid this Court's decision-making.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1), because this case presents the opportunity to clarify and refine the law surrounding warrantless arrests.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Criminal Complaint filed on May 25, 2018 charged Matthew Davonta J. Dillard ("Mr. Dillard") with Carry of Concealed Weapon, in violation of Wisconsin Statutes Sections a violation of 941.23(2). (R.1:1-2; App. 4-5.)

On August 20, 2018 Mr. Dillard filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Suppress Evidence, asserting that the law enforcement's search of the vehicle and

seizure of Mr. Dillard was illegal and constitutionally invalid, warranting suppression of any resulting evidence. (R. 9:1-11; App. 6-16.)

The trial court held a hearing on the motions to suppress on October 30, 2018. (R. 71:1-76; App. 22-97.)

On November 5, 2018, after the Motion Hearing, the State filed a Response to Defendants' Motion to Suppress. (R. 12:1-5; App. 17-21.)

On January 11, 2019, the court gave its oral decision denying the motion to suppress finding that there was probable cause and exigent circumstances to search the vehicle, that the investigation was reasonable because it was an intentional violation of law, and that the totality of the circumstances justified a warrantless search. (R. 58:1-16; App. 98-113.)

At Jury Trial on February 27, 2019 – February 28, 2019, Mr. Dillard was found guilty of one count of carrying a concealed weapon at trial. (R. 61-65.)

On May 9, 2019, the Circuit Court withheld sentence and placed defendant on probation for a period up to 12 MONTHS with the following Conditions:

Court ordered court costs waived due to indigency and any unwaivable costs (Including DNA surcharge) to be paid by May 8, 2020. Failure to pay will result in a civil judgment/tax intercept. 20 Hours of Community service. Absolute sobriety. Court ordered no possession or use of controlled substances without a valid prescription. Maintain full employment, school or combination of both.. No possession of weapons/firearms Probation programming to be determined by agent. (R. 40:1-2.)

On May 22, 2019, Mr. Dillard filed a timely Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. (R. 44:1-2.) On October 8, 2019, Nancy A. Dominski was appointed as appellate counsel. (R. 46:1.)

On April 3, 2020, Appellate Counsel filed a Motion to Extend Time Limits for the Filing of the Postconviction Motion or Notice of Appeal. (R. 48:1-3.) The Appellate Court granted this extending time until June 9, 2020. (R. 49:1.)

On June 8, 2020, Mr. Dillard filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R. 52 p. 1-2.)

On June 13, 2020, the Clerk of Circuit Court filed the Transmission of record from circuit court to court of appeals. (R. 73:1.)

On June 16, 2020, The Clerk of Circuit Court filed and Amended

Transmission of record from circuit court to court of appeals (74:1; App. 114-117.)

On July 16, 2020, Counsel for Mr. Dillard filed an Amended Notice of Appeal.

On July 16, 2020 the Clerk of Circuit Court filed a Supplemental Index.

Mr. Dillard now appeals the Circuit Court's order denying his Motion to Suppress. This Appellate Brief is timely if filed on or before August 25, 2020.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Dillard was charged as a result of a warrantless vehicle search, arrest, and detention carried out by the Milwaukee Police on May 24, 2018. (R1:1-2.)

At Suppression Hearing on October 30, 20018, officers testified under oath to the following:

- On May 24, 2018, at approximately 10:00 p.m. six Milwaukee
   Police officers on bicycle patrol at approximately the 2800 block of
   North 37<sup>th</sup> Street, officers came upon a silver Infiniti with running
   lights on. (R. 71:9, 23; App. 30, 44.)
- At first officers believed that there was no one in the vehicle. (R
   71:9; App. 30.)
- Officers then illuminated the vehicle and saw someone in the back seat. (R. 71:10, 26; App. 31, 47.)
- Officers claimed Mr. Dillard made a "lunging" movement. (R.71:10;
   App. 31.)
- Officers opened the driver's side rear door to the vehicle. (R.71:10-11; App. 31-32.)
- Mr. Dillard attempted to exit the vehicle from the passenger side rear door. (R. 71:12: App. 33.)

 The officers immediately took Mr. Dillard to the ground, tased him, handcuffed him, and placed him in custody. (R.71:35, 44; App. 56,
 65)

- Officers did not attempt to talk to Mr. Dillard prior to opening the car door. (R. 71:28; App. 49.)
- Officers did not have a warrant. (R. 71:1-76; App. 98-113.)
- The entire incident from the officers first seeing the vehicle to arresting Mr. Dillard took 51 seconds. (R. 71:35-36, 38; App. 56-57, 59.)
- After the detention of Mr. Dillard, officers found a gun inside the vehicle (R. 71:42; App. 63.)

The Court made findings and concluded that there was probable cause and exigent circumstances to arrest Mr. Dillard and Search the vehicle. (R. 58:1-16; App. 98-113.)

The court made the following factual findings in its January 11, 2019 decision:

"...Officer Domine of the Milwaukee Police Department, has four years of experience with Milwaukee Police Department and stated that – that he was on bike patrol on – eastbound on Center Street. On May  $24^{th}$ , 2018, he was on patrol in what is a – He's assigned to a high – what he testified to is the highest crime area in Milwaukee.

He came upon – a silver Infiniti with running lights on, and the windshield had no tint. However, the rest of it was highly tinted. It was running with nobody in the driver's seat which is a violation of the traffic code.

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 11 of 37

He illuminated the van, or the car, the vehicle, from outside with a flashlight, saw a flash of somebody in the back seat, opened the door. He couldn't see through the very dark, tinted—He opened the door and testified to that being an extreme safety issue, that movement of somebody that he said was appearing to hid himself in the back seat.

When the door opened, that person later identified as the defendant attempted to leave on the opposite – exit the vehicle on the opposite side to the – at which time, the officer saw a - a weapon there. He did have body cam video, which was marked as Exhibit 1.

There were other officers involved on that – the patrol, which was roughly – It was in the 2800 block of North  $37^{\text{th}}$  Street, at about 10:00 o'clock at night. There had been – Prior to opening the door, there was – had been no communication with the person inside the vehicle.

Finally, this was testified to as a residential area, and the view of the video corroborated the the officer's testimony. After opening the door, he asked for the defendant to show his – 'Show me your hands,' was the quote, which was an indication of concern for his safety.

The second officer was Officer Gaglione, also with the Milwaukee Police Department for four years, also on duty that night, on May 25<sup>th</sup>, 2018, and testified to having – There were several other officers on patrol in this high-crime district, the same area as – district as was discussed, in the 2800 block of 37<sup>th</sup> Street.

And he testified to essentially the same facts. However, he did not open the door. He did observe with the flashlight an individual – a person in the back seat, whom he ducked out of sight, attempting to hide from him. And those are the essential facts of the case.

(R: 58:6-8; App. 103-105)

The court made the following conclusions of law in its January 11, 2019

#### decision:

- "The Court denies that there was not a lack of reasonable suspicion or probable cause in this case." (R.58:10-11; App. 15-16.)
- "This is not being decided exclusively on the high-crime area. It's the totality of the circumstances that are being considered as well as the safety of the officers that this was not an unreasonable search or intrusion..." (R.58:11; App. 16.)
- "Mr. Dillard does have a reasonable expectation of privacy in has vehicle. However, the automobile searches and so forth are not exclusive. It's not the same right. And if there are rights in homes and businesses, all automobile exceptions in this case, this was part of an investigation so that the

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 12 of 37

*young* principles don't – don't get the same authority in this case." (R.58:11-12; App. 108-109.)

• "Given the totality of the circumstances, it was not unreasonable at that point for the officer to open the door and further his investigation at that point, for his own safety and those of the other officers who were present as well; and, therefore, I'm denying the motion." (R. 58:12; App. 109.)

Defense counsel asked for clarification as to whether the Court was finding that there was probable cause to search when the door was opened or that the actions were justified by exigent circumstances, the Court responded:

- "Well, really, both...There were exigent circumstances. Given all of the factors, it was the investigation was reasonable because it was a violation of law, or intentional violation of law, and then the movement and the totality of the circumstances, that made it there were exigent circumstances in this case to open that door." (R. 58:13;App. 110.)
- "So that I don't find that is a a violation of the rights of the Well, let me put it the other way. That justifies a warrantless search." (R. 58:13;App. 110.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a given set of facts provided probable cause to search a vehicle is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *State v. Miller*, 647 N.W.2d 348, 256 Wis.2d 80, 2002 WI App 150 (Wis. App. 2002); *State v. Matejka*, 2001 WI 5, ¶ 22, 241 Wis. 2d 52, 621 N.W.2d 891 (Wis. 2001); *State v. Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 59, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568 (Wis. 2000) overruled on other grounds by *State v. Deerborn*, 2010 WI 84, 327 Wis. 2D 252, 786 N.W. 2D 97 (Wis. 2010).

Reviewing denials of motions to suppress evidence involves questions of constitutional fact requiring application of a two-step analysis. *State v. Robinson*,

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 13 of 37

2010 WI 80, P.22, 327 Wis.2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463 (Wis. 2010) (citations omitted). "First, [appellate courts] review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under a deferential standard, upholding them unless they are clearly erroneous. Second, [they] independently apply constitutional principles to those facts." *Id.* (citations omitted).

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS WAS ERROR BECAUSE IT STEMMED FROM CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FACTUAL AND LEGAL DETERMINATIONS BY THE CIRCUIT THE COURT, AND BECAUSE LAW ENFORCEMENT'S ARREST, AND DETENTION OF MR. DILLARD WERE NOT JUSTIFIED
- A. The Court's finding that there was a violation of law which justified an arrest and/or search was clearly erroneous.

Here the circuit court's findings may not be upheld because they were "clearly erroneous," *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, 786 N.W.2d 463, 327 Wis. 2d 302 (Wis. 2010).

Specifically, the Court misstates the law: "It [the vehicle] was running with nobody in the driver's seat, which is a violation of the traffic code. (R. 58:7; App. 104)

The Court further states:

"State argues that there was probable cause that a violation of an ordinance had occurred because of that running car – vehicle without a person in the driving seat, which is a violation of law, ordinance." (R. 58:8-9; App. 105-106.)

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 14 of 37

This, however, is a misstatement of the law and clearly erroneous. The Milwaukee Traffic Code Ordinance 101-30 states:

101-30. Leaving of Ignition Keys in a Parked Auto. 1. LOCK REQUIRED. Every passenger motor vehicle except a common carrier of passengers is required to be equipped with a lock suitable to lock either the starting lever, throttle, steering apparatus, gear shift lever, brake system or ignition system. 2. ON PUBLIC STREET. No person may permit a motor vehicle in his custody to stand or remain *unattended* on any street, alley or in any other public place, except an attended parking area, unless either the starting lever, throttle, steering apparatus, gear shift, brake system or ignition of said vehicle is locked and the key for such lock is removed from the vehicle. This subsection shall not apply to motor trucks when the engine must be kept running while the truck is standing or parked in order to provide power for auxiliary devices, appliances, accessories or machinery that are or is related to nondriving occupational operations, provided that the operator of the motor truck is in the near vicinity of the truck engaged in assigned or related duties while the engine is running, and further provided that the vehicle must be equipped with positive neutral position brake locks plus a safety override, or similar appropriate safety features.

Milwaukee Traffic Ordinance 101-30 emphasis added. (App. 1)

The court "clearly erroneously" found that there was a violation of the law. (R.58:7,12: App. 104, 109.) That finding is contrary to the Milwaukee Traffic Ordinance 101-30. Which states "No person may permit a motor vehicle in his custody to stand or remain unattended." (App. 1.) Clearly, an occupied vehicle is NOT unattended, nor is there anything in the ordinance that requires someone to be present in the driver's seat.

As soon as officers saw Mr. Dillard in the vehicle, there was no further indication of a violation of Milwaukee Ordinance 101-30 *Id*.

Additionally, Milwaukee Traffic Ordinance 101-30 is not an arrestable offense, but a citation that carries a maximum penalty of \$22.00.

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 15 of 37

101-34. Stipulation or Contestation Procedure; Nonmoving Traffic Violations.

- 1. PROCEDURE. a. Any person to whom a citation has been issued for a nonmoving traffic violation in this section shall do either of the following within 65 days of the issuance of the citation:
- a-1. Enter into a stipulation with the city of Milwaukee providing for a forfeiture of money which may be paid at the city's violation bureau's payment centers.
- a-2. Schedule an appearance in municipal court to answer the charges as set forth in the citation.
- b. Any person to whom a citation has been issued for a nonmoving traffic violation in this section who fails to either stipulate to the forfeiture or schedule an appearance in municipal court to answer the charges within 65 days of the issuance of the citation may have a default judgment entered against that person for the forfeiture, plus appropriate fees, costs and surcharges as allowed under this section.
- c. A citation for a nonmoving traffic violation shall include the date on which the municipal court may enter a default judgment against the person to whom the citation has been issued.
- d. The owner of a vehicle involved in a nonmoving traffic violation shall be jointly liable for the violation.
- 2. FORFEITURE SCHEDULE. The forfeiture upon stipulation under this section shall be in accordance with the following schedule...
- b. Citations issued for violation of ss. 101-27-7-d, 101-27.8, 101-30 and 101-32-6: \$22

Milwaukee Traffic Ordinance 101-34; (App. 2-3.)

Contrary to the Court's findings, there is no "investigation" of a \$22 parking citation that would require six armed police officers to rush up to a vehicle and open the doors, arrest and detain the occupant, and search the vehicle. There was nothing here to investigate. Had police truly believed there was an unattended

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 16 of 37

vehicle in violation of traffic ordinance 101-30 they could have issued the citation and left.

The court's finding that a search of the vehicle and detention of Mr. Dillard is justified due to a an "investigation" of a parking citation is clearly erroneous, especially since the officers could see that the vehicle was not unattended., and therefore, there was no violation of the traffic ordinance.

B. The Court's finding that there was "not a lack of reasonable suspicion or probable cause in this case" was clearly erroneous.

Here, the Court states "The Court denies that there was not a lack of reasonable suspicion or probable cause in this case." (R. 58:10-11; App. 107-108.)

1. The Court's finding that there was probable cause was clearly erroneous.

When counsel asked the court if it was finding that there was probable cause to search or exigent circumstances the court responded: "Well, really, both." (R. 58:12; App. 109)

The Fourth Amendment to the U. S. Constitution and the greater protections under Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit "unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. Art. 1, § 11. These articles protect people from the government intruding on the "the privacies of life." *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081, 84

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 17 of 37

A.L.R.2d 933 (1961) (quoting *Boyd v. United States*, 116 U.S. 616, 29 L.Ed. 746, 6 S.Ct. 524 (1886).

"... A search, even of an automobile, is a substantial invasion of privacy.

To protect that privacy from official arbitrariness, the U.S. Supreme Court has always regarded probable cause as the minimum requirement for a lawful search.

Almeida-Sanchez, 413 U.S. 266, at 269-270, 93 S.Ct. 2535, at 2537-2538, 37

L.Ed.2d 596; Chambers v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 42, 51, 90 S.Ct. 1975 1981, 26

L.Ed.2d 419 (1970). United States v. Martinez, 526 F.2d 954 (5th Cir. 1976).

There is no question that entering a person's car and searching items inside it constitutes a search. See *Almeida-Sanchez v. United States*, 413 U.S. 266, 269 (1973). However, because of the reduced expectation of privacy that individuals have in vehicles, a warrantless search of a vehicle is not necessarily unreasonable. See *State v. Matejka*, 2001 WI 5, ¶ 22, 241 Wis. 2d 52, 621 N.W.2d 891; *State v. Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 59, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568. Rather, an automobile may be searched without a warrant so long as there is probable cause to believe that evidence of a crime will be found inside. *Pallone*, 2000 WI 77 at ¶¶ 58 to 60. *State v. Miller*, 2002 WI App 150 at ¶11.

Mr. Dillard had a privacy interest to be free from such police intrusions. *Id*. Any person in a stopped vehicle has standing to challenge the stop, even if he or

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 18 of 37

she lacks a property interest in the vehicle or its contents. *United States v. Eylicio-Montoya*, 70 F.3d 1158, 1162, (10th Cir.1995).

In this case, six armed officers rode up to the vehicle where Mr. Dillard was in the back seat. (R. 71:9, 23; App. 30,44.) Officers opened the door without a warrant, without probable cause that evidence of a crime would be found within, without even reasonable suspicion that a crime was being committed, and intruded on Mr. Dillard's privacy (R. 71:1-76; App. 98-113.). All this was done although Mr. Dillard had a privacy interest to be free from such police intrusions. See *Miller*, 2002 WI App. 150 at ¶11.

Vehicles still fall under the "persons and effects" portion of the Fourth Amendment, and suddenly opening a car door without reason of a warrant or exception to the warrant requirement for a search is illegal and a violation of the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. IV; *State v. Smith*, 2018 WI 2 at ¶34.

The state, in it's State's Response to Defendant's Motion to Suppress (filed after the suppression hearing) conceded that "while opening the vehicle's door may not have been a 'full-blown search,' it is a sufficient intrusion to be considered a search under the Fourth Amendment." citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). (R.12:3; App. 19.)

Case 2020AP000999 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-29-2020 Page 19 of 37

Once the officer saw Mr. Dillard in the back seat of the vehicle, his pretense of an investigation of a non-moving city ordinance violation of an unattended vehicle pursuant to Milwaukee City Ordinance 101-30 falls apart.

Furthermore, the "crime" of a parking violation would not contain evidence within the vehicle. Officers had no probable cause to believe that there was evidence of a crime inside of the vehicle and therefore violated Mr. Dillard's privacy upon opening the car door. Without a warrant, an invasion of that area is "presumptively unreasonable." *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967) (Harlan J., concurrence). This presumption is overcome if the officer who conducts the search has probable cause do so despite the person's expectation of privacy, or where the officer has attempted communication prior to the search in the form of "ordinary inquiries," which are related in scope to the purpose of a traffic stop. See *Smith*, 2018 WI 2, ¶2.

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