FILED 12-16-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2020AP000999-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DAVONTA J. DILLARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from An Order Denying Motion to Suppress Evidence, Entered by Branch 31, Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Hannah C. Dugan Presiding

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Anthony Moore Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1106488 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Officers' Act of Opening the Vehicle Door Was Justified By The Threat To Safety Exigency.
  - A. Although Reasonable Suspicion is Not Needed To Approach A Vehicle, The Officers Here Reasonably Suspected At A Minimum A Vehicular Ordinance Violation

The officers had reasonable suspicion to approach the vehicle. This point was conceded by Mr. Dillard at the motion hearing. (R. 72:61-63.) Nevertheless, Wisconsin permits police officers to approach a vehicle, and even make contact with it, without reasonable suspicion. *Cty. of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 32, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 362, 850 N.W.2d 253, 262 (finding defendant was not "seized" when officer knocked on his driver's window and asked him to roll it down).

Not every contact between the police and a citizen constitutes a seizure *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 66, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 37, 717 N.W.2d 729, 747. A seizure only occurs when police restrain a person by show of authority or physical force. *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 552 (1980). As long as a reasonable person would feel free to go about their business, a seizure has not occurred and the Fourth Amendment is not implicated. *State v. Luebeck*, 2006 WI App 87, ¶ 10, 292 Wis. 2d 748, 756, 715 N.W.2d 639, 643.

The officers had observed a running vehicle without an occupant. (R. 72:9.) The officers knew that a running vehicle without a person in it is a city ordinance violation. (R. 72:14.) The vehicle was also suspicious because it was left running in front of house in the later evening hours, when it is dark, in an area known for high crime and burglaries. (R. 72:9-10, 13-14, 29-30.) Accordingly, the officers approached the vehicle. (R.

Case 2020AP000999 Respondent's Brief Filed 12-16-2020 Page 11 of 18

72:10, 14.) At that point, officers had reasonable suspicion to believe the vehicle was, at a minimum, violating city ordinances.

However, while approaching the vehicle the "threat to safety" exigency quickly occurred when they suddenly observed a person in the rear seat take evasive action by diving out of view, given all of the surrounding circumstances—the person's actions, the location being inside high crime area fraught with burglaries and firearm offenses, the time of night, the high window tint, the officers' experience with vehicles, and the officers' knowledge of firearms in vehicles being used against officers. (R. 72:10-11.)

## B. Wisconsin Law Allows Police Officers to Take Reasonable Actions Under Exigent Circumstances.

While a search or seizure generally must be justified by probable cause in a warrant, *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 358 (1967), exigent circumstances may justify warrantless searches. *Warden, Md. Penitentiary v. Hayden*, 387 U.S. 294, 298 (1967). Reviewing whether exigent circumstances exist is to be "directed by a flexible test of reasonableness under the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Ayala*, 2011 WI App 6, ¶ 17, 331 Wis. 2d 171, 183, 793 N.W.2d 511, 517 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Wisconsin recognizes four situations in which exigent circumstances exist: (1) hot pursuit; (2) threat to safety, (3) destruction of evidence; and (4) likelihood of flight. *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 29, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 540–41, 612 N.W.2d 29, 37. An officer may forego a warrant when obtaining one would "gravely endanger life or risk destruction of evidence or greatly enhance the likelihood of the suspect's escape." *Id.*, ¶ 30 (quoting *State v. Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d 220, 230, 388 N.W.2d 601, 606 (1986), abrogated on other grounds by *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775).

As the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted in *Richter*, it is unrealistic to expect officers to wait for a threat to fully unfold before taking action:

This expects too much and puts too much at risk. In the course of investigating crimes in progress and pursuing fleeing suspects, police officers are often called upon to make judgments based upon incomplete information. The exigency at issue here is the threat to physical safety. To require a police officer in this situation to have affirmative evidence of the presence of firearms or known violent tendencies on the part of the suspect before acting to protect the safety of others is arbitrary and unrealistic and unreasonably handicaps the officer in the performance of one of his core responsibilities.

Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 40 (finding warrantless entry into trailer home, in which burglary suspect had been seeing fleeing was justified by the threat to safety and hot pursuit exigencies). The test for a safety exigency is whether a police officer reasonably believes that delay in procuring a warrant would "gravely endanger life." State v. Leutenegger, 2004 WI App 127, ¶ 11, 275 Wis. 2d 512, 521, 685 N.W.2d 536, 541 (finding exigent circumstances justified warrantless entry of officer into defendant's garage to ascertain his welfare and also to prevent him from causing harm to others). Accordingly, if police officers reasonably suspect a threat to their safety, they may take action without a warrant.

# C. The Officers Reasonably Believed That There Was a Grave Safety Risk To Their Lives Justifying Opening the Vehicle Door.

Officer Domine reasonably believed that Mr. Dillard posed a threat to his safety that would gravely endanger life, and that threat justified opening the vehicle door. The question of what constitutes reasonableness is a common-sense test. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 13, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 9, 733 N.W.2d 634, 638. A court must determine what a reasonable police officer should reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681, 684 (1996).

Evasive behavior is a factor in determining reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000). Flight, while not illegal, may give "rise to a reasonable suspicion that some sort of wrongful activity might be afoot." *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 88, 454 N.W.2d 763, 768 (1990).

Case 2020AP000999 Respondent's Brief Filed 12-16-2020 Page 13 of 18

Officer Domine reasonably believed that there was a grave threat to his safety and the safety of the officers around him. The officers were in a high-crime area known for drug crimes, firearm crimes, and burglaries. (R. 72:10.) around 10:00 P.M., very dark, and the vehicle windows were heavily tinted. (R. 72:10-11, 14, 26.) The vehicle was left running outside of houses, consistent with burglars' practice of having a quick escape vehicle. (R. 72:13.) An individual in a suspicious situation had just quickly ducked out of sight. Given that interactions with individuals in vehicles is one of the most dangerous parts an officer's duties, and given the officer's awareness that some individuals point firearms through heavily tinted windows at an officer on the other side, Officer Domine's concern that Mr. Dillard was arming himself with a weapon that could be used against the officers was reasonable. (R. 72:12, 39.) In fact, Officer Domine's safety concerns proved to be correct given that a firearm was ultimately seen and recovered in the area where Mr. Dillard ducked out of view. (Mot. Hr. Exh. 1 NRI.) Given these circumstances, it was reasonable for Officer Domine to believe that the person in the vehicle posed a threat to his safety and to open the door to mitigate that threat with the minimal action of opening the vehicle door. (R. 72:39-40.)

Mr. Dillard, citing Welsh v. Wisconsin, argues that the gravity of the underlying offense must be considered in the context of threat-to-safety exigencies. (Appellant's Br. at 22.) However, Welsh is distinguishable and does not control here. Welsh found no exigency based on threat to safety, nor that of hot pursuit Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 753 (1984). The Welsh Court clearly explained that the only potential exigency they were addressing was the potential dissipation of bloodalcohol content. See id. at 746 ("The State attempts to justify the arrest ... on the need to preserve evidence of the petitioner's blood-alcohol level."). The decision said nothing about the justification and permissible scope of protective actions performed by police during traffic stops. Furthermore, the "hot pursuit" doctrine allowing warrantless entry into a private home "is a much greater intrusion than a traffic stop and thus requires a greater governmental interest to be reasonable." State v. Rissley, 2012 WI App 112, ¶ 24 n.5, 344 Wis. 2d 422, 438, 824 N.W.2d 853, 862. Here, under the totality of the

Case 2020AP000999 Respondent's Brief Filed 12-16-2020 Page 14 of 18

circumstances, which culminated into a sudden and ongoing threat to officer safety, the officers' actions were reasonable.

# D. The Minor Intrusion of Opening the Vehicle Door Was Warranted Due to Officers' Reasonable Safety Concerns.

When an officer believes criminal activity is afoot, he may take reasonable actions to dispel risks to his own or others' safety. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968). Courts should distinguish searches for evidence and protective searches and apply different standards for each. *Id.* at 8. The nature of the intrusion against the individual must be balanced against the importance of the interest justifying the intrusion. *United States v. Place*, 462 U.S. 696, 703 (1983). Officer safety is a legitimate and significant interest. *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106, 110 (1977). An officer conducting a stop "should not be denied the opportunity to protect himself from attack by a hostile suspect." *Adams v. Williams*, 407 U.S. 143, 146 (1972).

Although private interior areas stand at the "very core" of the Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion, *Silverman v. United States*, 365 U.S. 505, 511 (1961), vehicles typically command a lower expectation of privacy. *Carroll v. United States*, 267 U.S. 132, 153 (1925).

Officer Domine's primary concern was for his safety and the safety of others. (R. 72:37-38.) Officer Domine was not searching for contraband or other evidence of a crime. (R. 72:39-42.) Officer Domine opened the vehicle door only to make sure that the person inside was not a threat. (R. 72:41-42.) Officer Domine opened the vehicle door because it was the fastest way to make contact with Mr. Dillard. (R. 72:37.)

When Officer Domine opened the door to the vehicle, he was doing so as a protective search. Officer Domine's concern was not in obtaining evidence, it was in protecting himself. Officer Domine did the quickest thing that he could in order to protect himself and the other officers.

Mr. Dillard suggests that Officer Domine should have taken other actions such as asking to roll down the window or Case 2020AP000999 Respondent's Brief Filed 12-16-2020 Page 15 of 18

trying to speak through the window to Mr. Dillard. However, just because other actions are possible does not make those actions reasonable. Officer Domine had only moments to decide what action to take and he made the only reasonable choice.

Mr. Dillard also suggests that Milwaukee Police created the safety risk because they could have "simply walked away." (Appellant's Br. at 24.) Mr. Dillard relies upon *State v. Robinson* for the proposition that exigency cannot exist when law enforcement creates that exigency. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463. However, that reliance is misplaced for two reasons: first, *Robinson* states that when law enforcement behaves in a lawful manner, they are not the creators of exigency. *Id.*, ¶ 32. Second, there is no way to know beforehand whether ignoring a safety risk will dissipate or escalate that risk. Suggesting that officers should just turn their backs on potentially armed individuals in suspicious circumstances is inconsistent with the logic in *Richter* that is noted above.

Officer Domine reasonably believed that Mr. Dillard was a threat, and he took the only reasonable action by opening the vehicle door. Therefore, the Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

## II. Officer Domine Observed In Plain View Evidence of Criminal Activity That Provided Probable Cause to Arrest Mr. Dillard and Search the Rest of the Vehicle.

Police may search a vehicle without a warrant and without a showing of exigent circumstances where there is probable cause to believe that evidence of a crime is inside the vehicle. *State v. Tompkins*, 144 Wis. 2d 116, 137-38, 423 N.W.2d 823 (1988). *See also California v. Acevedo*, 500 U.S. 565, 580 (1991) (providing that police may search containers within the vehicle when probable cause exists to believe evidence may be hidden there). Similarly, warrantless arrests supported by probable cause are lawful. *State v. Lange*, 2009 WI 49, ¶19, 317 Wis. 2d 383, 391, 766 N.W.2d 551, 555.

Case 2020AP000999 Respondent's Brief Filed 12-16-2020 Page 16 of 18

Probable cause does not require the same type of specific evidence of each element of the offense as would be needed to support a conviction. *Adams v. Williams*, 407 U.S. 143, 149 (1972). Probable cause is a nontechnical determination that views the totality of the circumstances. *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). "A 'practical, nontechnical' probability that incriminating evidence is involved is all that is required." *Texas v. Brown*, 460 U.S. 730, 742 (1983) (quoting *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 176 (1949)). Probable cause is flexible and based upon the assessment of probabilities in particular factual contexts. *Maryland v. Pringle*, 540 U.S. 366, 370 (2003).

As soon as Officer Domine opened the door to the vehicle to mitigate the safety threat to him and the other officers, evidence of a crime was in plain view. The firearm, which was on the floor in the rear of the vehicle within Mr. Dillard's reach, was in plain view of the open door was otherwise concealed from ordinary observation outside the vehicle. (R. 1:1; R. 72:37; Mot. Hr. Exh. 1 NRI.) Even firearms lying on a vehicle's front seat are "concealed" within meaning of Wisconsin's concealed weapon statute § 941.23. State v. Walls, 190 Wis. 2d 65, 526 N.W.2d 765 (Ct. App. 1994). Mr. Dillard also resisted officers' attempts to detain him as he fled from the vehicle. (R. 72:35.) See Wis. Stat. § Accordingly, probable cause existed to both 946.41. immediately search the vehicle for contraband, namely for the violation of § 941.23, and to arrest him with violating both statutes.

The bulk of the trial court's decision focuses on the exigent circumstances surrounding the police contact with Mr. Dillard. (R. 58:6-12.) However, Mr. Dillard asked for clarification "that there's probable cause to search when the door was open or that the actions were justified by the exigent circumstances?" (R. 58:12.) The trial court added that it was finding both probable cause and exigent circumstances "well, really, both." (R. 58:12.) Unfortunately, the record is not totally clear on whether the trial court concluded that probable cause existed to justify opening the vehicle's door or in some other context.

Nevertheless, this Court need not decide that issue. Exigency existed to open the vehicle's door, and once the door was open, probable cause existed both to search and to arrest. Accordingly, the subsequent search of the vehicle and arrest of Mr. Dillard were reasonable. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision to deny Mr. Dillard's motion.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons discussed, this Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of Mr. Dillard's motion to suppress and his judgement of conviction.